### STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT FOUR

### **RECEIVED**

12-16-2014

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

State of Wisconsin,

Plaintiffs-Respondent,

v.

Case No. 2014AP2433

Judith Ann Detert-Moriarty,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Dane County, the Hon. David T. Flanagan, Presiding

## BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT JUDITH A. DETERT-MORIARTY

Pamela R. McGillivray
McGillivray Westerberg & Bender LLC
211 South Paterson Street
Suite 320
Madison, WI 53703
Tel. 608.310.3560
Fax. 608.310.3561

Counsel for Defendant-Appellant Judith A. Detert-Moriarty

###

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. IS THERE A "PROSECUTORIAL DISCRETION" EXCEPTION APPLICABLE TO THE WISCONSIN EQUAL ACCESS TO JUSTICE ACT?

Answered by the Circuit Court: Yes. Defendant-Appellant answer: No.

II. WAS THIS FORFEITURE ACTION UNDER THE DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATION'S RULES AN "AGENCY ACTION" FOR PURPOSES OF THE WISCONSIN EQUAL ACCESS TO JUSTICE ACT?

Briefed but not addressed by the Circuit Court.

Defendant-Appellant answer: Yes.

III. IS THE STANDARD FOR "SUSTANTIALLY JUSTIFIED" UNDER THE WISCONSIN EQUAL ACCESS TO JUSTICE ACT EQUIVALENT TO THE STANDARD FOR A FRIVOLOUS CLAIM UNDER WIS. STAT. § 814.025 (1979-80)?

Answered by the Circuit Court: Yes. Defendant-Appellant answer: No

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Defendant-Appellate Judith A. Detert-Moriarty believes oral argument is appropriate in the event the Court has any questions about the case.

This case is currently a one-judge appeal. Detert-Moriarty has moved to have this matter decided by a three-judge panel. That motion is pending. A published decision will provide needed guidance as there is little precedential case law interpreting the Wisconsin Equal Access to Justice Act and a published decision on this matter may have impact on other cases, in particular, other forfeiture action cases in which defendants sought fees are pending in the circuit court. Thus, this appeal is an issue of substantial and continuing public interest and publication is therefore warranted.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### I. NATURE OF THE CASE

Nearly thirty years ago, the legislature passed the Wisconsin Equal Access to Justice Act ("WEAJA"), Wis. Stat. § 814.245, to protect citizens from having to bear heavy litigation costs to defend against unreasonable lawsuits filed by the state and to deter state agencies from engaging in protracted litigation of such baseless actions. The legislature extended the scope of that protection broadly to "any action" by a state agency, without exception. The circuit court below adopted an exception to WEAJA for all forfeiture actions by the state agencies, which was not provided by the legislature and which contradicts the legislative purpose. This appeal seeks to enforce the plain language of the statute and to reestablish its legislative purpose.

Defendant-Appellant Judith Detert-Moriarty seeks her fees and other costs under WEAJA, Wis. Stat. § 814.245, in a forfeiture action by the Department of Administration alleging a violation of that agency's administrative regulations. The circuit court found the administrative regulations at issue to be unconstitutional on their face and dismissed the action against Detert-Moriarty. Thus, Detert-Moriarty was the prevailing party and entitled to seek her fees and other costs under WEAJA. The circuit court ruled, however, that WEAJA did not apply to this type of action. In its ruling, the circuit court found, as a matter of first impression, a "prosecutorial discretion" exception to

WEAJA, and held that the fee-shifting statute does not apply as a matter of policy to forfeiture actions. That holding misreads the plain language of the statute, misapplies its legislative intent and relevant case law, and re-legislates the Act by court order. Detert-Moriarty appeals the circuit court's interpretation of the statute.

The circuit court passed on the legal question of whether this action was an "agency action" under the Act, but the issue had been fully briefed to the circuit court and this Court should find that it is an "agency action." Finally, the circuit court misinterpreted the standard an agency must prove to show that fees are not warranted under WEAJA. This Court should correct the standard of when an agency is "substantially justified" in its actions as a defense to fee-shifting.

#### II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Background on the Protests at the State Capitol.

In February 2011, with the introduction of legislation intended to dismantle public employees' collective bargaining rights in this state, public protest erupted in the State Capitol. Protests continued daily inside and outside the Capitol into spring. Along with other speech activities, singing emerged as a popular form of protest. Some of the protest singing came to be known as the "Solidarity Sing Along." The daily Solidarity Sing Along continued after

the mass protests had subsided, throughout summer of 2013 (and continues today).<sup>1</sup>

Detert-Moriarty has from time to time visited the State Capitol rotunda at the noon hour to participate in the Solidarity Sing Along.

B. The Authority to Promulgate Department of Administration's Administrative Rules.

The Department of Administration brought this action against Detert-Moriarty for her participation in the Solidary Sing Along pursuant to rules the Department of Administration promulgated, purportedly by the authority conveyed by Wis. Stat. § 16.846.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Because the merits of this case were dismissed on a facial challenge of the rule, the factual record is not well developed. The background facts rely on the facts stated by the circuit court in *State v. Crute*, Dane Co. Case No. 13FO2108 (2/5/14 Dec. and Order of Dismissal) (R.29 pp. 7-30) and by the federal district court in *Kissick v. Huebsch*, 956 F. Supp. 2d 981 (W.D. Wis. 2013) (R.32 pp. 34-52).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The legislature delegated the Department of Administration the authority to promulgate "rules of conduct" at the state facilities pursuant to § 16.846. However, as the circuit court found, the rules the Department of Administration promulgated were unconstitutional on their face, and therefore, outside of the Department's statutory authority. (R.34; App. pp. 1-6 (relying on *Kissick v. Huebsch* and *State v. Crute* to find the regulation at issue is invalid time, place and manner restriction on free speech).). Thus, the rules were *ultra vires* and void. *State ex rel. Teunas v. County of Kenosha*, 142 Wis. 2d 498, 515 (1988) ("An unconstitutional law in legal

Under Wis. Stat. § 16.846,<sup>3</sup> the Department of Administration is authorized to promulgate rules of conduct for the state facilities, including the State Capitol, which are codified at Wis. Admin. Code ch. Adm 2. At issue in this case are now-expired "emergency" rules

vantamentation has no ovietones"

contemplation has no existence." (citations and internal quotations omitted)).

<sup>3</sup> Wis. Stat. § 16.486 provides:

- (1) (a) The department shall promulgate under ch. 227, and shall enforce or have enforced, rules of conduct for property leased or managed by the department. Unless the rule specifies a penalty as provided under par. (b), a person found guilty of violating a rule promulgated under this subsection shall be fined not more than \$100 or imprisoned for not more than 30 days or both.
- **(b)** A rule promulgated under par. (a) may provide that a person who violates the rule is subject to one of the following:
- **1.** A lesser criminal penalty than the criminal penalty specified in par. (a).
- **2.** A forfeiture of not more than \$500.
- (2) A forfeiture under sub. (1) (b) 2. may be sued for and collected in the name of the department before any court having jurisdiction of such action. An action for a forfeiture under sub. (1) (b) 2. may be brought by the department, by the department of justice at the request of the department, or by a district attorney.

Wis. Stat. § 16.846(1), (2).

promulgated by the Department of Administration to temporarily modify ch. Adm 2.4 (*See* R.39 p. 10, Emergency Rules Now in Effect, Wis. Admin. Reg. No. 688.)

The "emergency" rules at issue were the Department of Administration's reaction to the protests ongoing in the State Capitol building since February 2011. (See R.39 p. 12, Scope Statements, Wis. Admin. Reg. No. 687.) "emergency" rules went into effect on April 16, 2013, two years *after* the mass protests, and expired on September 12, 2013. *Id.* In support of its purported need for emergency rules, in April 2013 the Department of Administration asserted that, although "[t]he continuous occupation of the State Capitol was formally terminated in March of 2011 . . . [g]roups of persons continue to occupy rooms in the Wisconsin State Capitol building without permits, including the Capitol rotunda." *Id.*<sup>5</sup> Even though the mass protests were no longer occurring, as the scoping statement explains, the Department of Administration claimed that the "emergency" rules were required for it to gain

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The term "emergency" is used because the rules were promulgated as EmR 1305 under Wis. Stat. § 227.24, the "emergency rules" section of the Wisconsin Administrative Procedures Act. Section 227.24 allows agencies to forego certain procedural requirements "if preservation of the public peace, health, safety or welfare necessitates putting the rule into effect prior to the time it would take effect if the agency complied with [those] procedures." Wis. Stat. § 227.24(1)(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Detert-Moriarty asserted below that there was no "emergency" at the Capitol in April 2013; and, thus, the rules were improperly promulgated under § 227.24.

"compliance from user groups in order to protect the public safety and welfare." *Id*.

The Department of Administration's emergency rules amending Wis. Admin. Code § Adm 2.14(2), as pertinent to the action brought against Detert-Moriarty, are as follows:

**SECTION 9:** Adm 2.14(2), 2(v), (2)(vm), (2)(vm)5, are amended to read:

#### Adm 2.14 Rules of conduct.

- (2) In order to preserve the order which is necessary for the enjoyment of freedom by occupants of the buildings and facilities, and in order to prevent activities which physically obstruct access to department lands and buildings or prevent the state from carrying on its instructional, research, public service, or administrative functions, P-and pursuant to s. 16.846, Stats., whoever does any of the following shall be subject to a forfeiture of not more than \$500:
  - (v) Without approval of the department, conducts an event picket, rally, parade or demonstration in those buildings and facilities managed or leased by the department or on properties surrounding those buildings.

(See R.39 p. 10 (added text underlined; deleted text stricken).)

C. The Action Against Detert-Moriarty.

On July 25, 2013, Detert-Moriarty received a citation for her presence at the Capitol during the Solidarity Sing Along. The citation was issued by the Capitol Police under the Department of Administration's regulations. (R.1, (listing "2.14(2)(v)" as the violation, with the description of "No Permit").) The Capitol Police is an arm of the Department of Administration. (R.45 p. 40.) By filing the citation with the court, the Department of Administration commenced a civil forfeiture action against Detert-Moriarty. That action was dismissed by the circuit court as unconstitutional on May 9, 2014. (R.34.) The Department of Administration did not appeal that decision.

# III. DISPOSITION IN THE CIRCUIT COURT AND PROCEDURAL POSTURE.

The underlying forfeiture action against Detert-Moriarty was dismissed on the merits and with prejudice by the circuit court on May 9, 2014, because the Department's rules are unconstitutional time, place and manner restrictions on free speech. (R.34.)

On June 6, 2014, Detert-Moriarty filed a motion for fees under WEAJA. (R.35.) The circuit court denied those fees on October 7, 2014, as a matter of law, because it read WEAJA to contain an implicit exception precluding an award of fees against a state agency where there has been an exercise of "prosecutorial discretion." (R.46 p. 6; App. p. 6 (relying on *City of Janesville v. Wiskia*, 97 Wis. 2d 473 (1980), for its reasoning that a plaintiff may not seek fees for a frivolous forfeiture municipal ordinance action under Wis. Stat. § 814.025 (1980).) There is no such statutory exception to WEAJA.

Detert-Moriarty appeals.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW AND LEGAL FRAMEWORK

#### I. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

This case was decided by the circuit court as a matter of law in construing Wis. Stat. § 814.245 to preclude actions by a state agency that involve "prosecutorial discretion." In so finding, the circuit court ignored the plain language and the legislative intent of the statute and, instead imported court-created reasoning looking at an entirely different statute. This Court reviews the construction of a statute without deference to the lower court's determination. *Sheely v. Wis. Dep't of Health & Social Services*, 150 Wis. 2d 320, 328-29 (1989).

The standard of review here is de novo.

## II. THE WISCONSIN EQUAL ACCESS TO JUSTICE ACT BACKGROUND.

The Wisconsin Equal Access to Justice Act ("WEAJA"), Wis. Stat. § 814.245, "is to encourage challenges to agency action and to provide a disincentive to agencies to prolong the litigation process." Stern by Morh v. Wis. Dep't of Health & Family Servs., 212 Wis. 2d 393, 404 (Ct. App. 1997) ("Stern I") (internal quotation omitted). It is also to compensate a party for the costs of defending against unreasonable government action. Bracegirdle v. Dep't of Regulation and Licensing, 159 Wis. 2d 402, 428 (Ct. App. 1990) (internal quotation omitted). The statute provides:

Except as provided in s. 814.25, if an individual, a small nonprofit corporation or a small business is the prevailing party *in any action by a state agency* or in any proceeding for judicial review under s. 227.485 (6) and submits a motion for costs under this section, the court shall award costs to the prevailing party, unless the court finds that the state agency was substantially justified in taking its position or that special circumstances exist that would make the award unjust.

Wis. Stat. § 814.245(3) (emphasis added).

Under Wis. Stat. § 814.245(3), the court must award the prevailing party costs unless the agency meets its burden to establish that it was substantially justified in taking its position or that special circumstances would make the award unjust. 6 *Bracegirdle*, 159 Wis. 2d at 425. "To satisfy its burden the government must demonstrate (1) a reasonable basis in truth for the facts alleged; (2) a reasonable basis in law for the theory propounded; and (3) a reasonable connection between the facts alleged and the legal theory advanced." *Sheely v. Dep't of Health & Social Servs.*, 150 Wis. 2d 320, 337 (1989).

The circuit court did not reach the question of whether the Department of Administration met its burden to prove it was "substantially justified" in taking its action. Instead, it denied Detert-Moriarty's request because it found that WEAJA could not apply to this type of case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The state did not raise an issue of "special circumstance" in the circuit court proceedings, nor could it meet its burden to show there are any special circumstances here.

#### **ARGUMENT**

The circuit court's decision was in error because the Department of Administration's civil forfeiture action is unquestionably an action brought by an agency, and therefore subject to WEAJA. The circuit court erroneously read an exception into the statute that does not comport with the plain language of the statute or the intent of the legislature. To reach its conclusion, the circuit court applied the reasoning from irrelevant case law interpreting different legislation unrelated to WEAJA. The circuit court must be reversed.

I. THERE IS NO "PROSECUTORIAL DISCRETION" EXCEPTION UNDER THE PLAIN LANGUAGE, LEGISLATIVE INTENT OR CASE LAW INTERPRETING THE WISCONSIN EQUAL ACCESS TO JUSTICE ACT.

The circuit court's decision ignored the plain language of, and legislative intent behind, the WEAJA statute. "The primary goal of statutory construction is to determine and give effect to the legislature's intent." Crawford v. City of Ashland, 134 Wis. 2d 369, 372 (Ct. App. 1986). Although fee-shifting provisions are in derogation of the common law rule that parties bear their own costs of litigation, which would generally require strictconstruction, the rule of strict construction "must yield to clear evidence of an intention on the part of the legislature." Sheely, 150 Wis. 2d at 329. Here, the plain language,

legislative history, purpose of the statute, and relevant case law all support covering this forfeiture action under WEAJA. The circuit court's decision creating an extrastatutory exception should therefore be reversed.

A. The Plain Language Of The Act Allows Recovery Under WEAJA For "Any Action" Brought By A State Agency, Without Exception.

The plain language of WEAJA directs that fees are available to prevailing parties in "any action" brought by a state agency, such as the Department of Administration. Wis. Stat. § 814.245(3) ("if an individual . . . is the prevailing party in any action by a state agency . . ., the court shall award costs to the prevailing party . . . "). The court first looks to the language of the statute and, "[i]f the language is unambiguous, no judicial rule of construction is permitted, and a court must give effect to the statute's plain meaning." *Crawford*, 134 Wis. 2d at 372-73. The circuit court erred by looking beyond the clear meaning of the broad language of the statute.

"Any action" includes a civil forfeiture action. *Id.* ("the broad scope of the phrase 'any action or special proceeding' would include forfeiture actions.") *See also United States v. Gonzales*, 520 U.S. 1, 5 (1997) ("the word 'any' has an expansive meaning, that is, one or some indiscriminately of whatever kind." (internal quotation and citation omitted)); *Norfolk S. Rwy. Co. v. Kirby*, 543 U.S. 14, 31-32, (2004) (finding the use of the word "any" gives to the word it modifies an "expansive meaning" when there is "no

reason to contravene the clause's obvious meaning."). In short, the term "any" means *any*.

The legislature chose broad coverage under WEAJA by using the term "any" to modify "action" and, thus, under the plain language of the statute this forfeiture action is subject to fee-shifting under WEAJA. The circuit court's decision to graft a non-statutory exception conflicts with the legislature's decision to cover "any" action and should be reversed.

B. The Legislative Intent Of WEAJA Is Not Met By The Circuit Court's Exclusion By "Prosecutorial Discretion."

The circuit court's non-statutory exception also conflicts with the legislative intent of WEAJA. "The cardinal rule in all statutory interpretation . . . is to discern the intent of the legislature." *Employers Ins. of Wausau v. Smith*, 154 Wis. 2d 199, 226 (1990). "The court ascertains the legislative intent by examining the language of the statute and the scope, history, context, subject matter and purpose of the statute." *Id.* 

The legislative history from 1985 Special Session Senate Bill 10, which created WEAJA, supports inclusion of forfeiture actions within the definition of "any action." The Legislative Reference Bureau summarized the legislation as follows:

This bill provides procedures for awarding a more complete recovery of actual costs for individuals and small businesses if they prevail in an administrative contested case proceeding or judicial review of a contested case proceeding, regardless of who initiates the proceeding or review, or in a court action brought by a state agency."

(App. p. 7, Legis. Ref. Bureau Analysis of 1985 Special Session Senate Bill 10 (creating Wis. Stat. § 814.245) (emphasis added).) That is, the legislature intended WEAJA to apply to court actions brought by state agencies. Many, if not most, of those actions could be characterized as involving "prosecutorial discretion," and thereby exempted by the circuit court's non-statutory rule. Thus, the circuit court's exemption rewrites the statute to exclude actions brought by an agency against a defending individual, small business or nonprofit. This defeats the legislature's purpose by drastically limiting the scope of the legislature intended to compensate a party for the costs of defending against unreasonable government action).

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