RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **01-30-2015**

COURT OF APPEAL OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2014AP2433

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JUDITH ANN DETERT MORIARTY,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE DECISION BY THE CIRCUIT COURT OF DANE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE DAVID T. FLANAGAN, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

MARIA S. LAZAR Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1017150

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 267-3519 (608) 267-2223 (Fax) *lazarms@doj.state.wi.us*

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

further held that:

Nor is advancing a 'novel but credible extension or interpretation of the law' grounds for finding a position lacking substantial justification. We also note that when a state agency makes an administrative decision and the agency's expertise is significant in rendering that decision, this court will defer to the agency's conclusions if they are reasonable; even if we would not have reached the same conclusions.

Id. at 338 (internal citations and footnote omitted).

The Capitol Police had a reasonable basis in both law and fact to issue the citation against Detert-Moriarty, and, more importantly, the State had a reasonable basis to prosecute this case. Furthermore, the State has an expertise in making prosecutorial decisions.

Application of the substantial justification standard requires the Court to examine both the agency's litigation position and the conduct that led to the litigation. After doing so, the Court then must reach a judgment independent from that of the merits phase and determine only whether the agency's actions had a reasonable basis in law and in fact. See Fed. Election Comm'n v. Rose, 806 F.2d 1081, 1087-91 (D.C. Cir. 1986).

The facts and circumstances surrounding the issuance of the forfeiture citation, its opening as a civil action and the decision to prosecute the case are commonplace. The first and last step with respect to *this* citation require a government official to perform a discretionary function, *i.e.*, the Capitol Police officer must determine whether to issue a citation and for what violation, and the Department of Justice has to determine whether to opt to prosecute the civil action which arises from the citation.

A. The Capitol Police were substantially justified when they issued the citation to defendant-appellant.

The Capitol Police were acting pursuant to the administrative code and DOA's promulgated policies when they issued Detert-Moriarty's citation. They were also acting pursuant to the decision in *Kissick v. Huebsch*, 956 F. Supp. 2d 981, 1007 (W.D. Wis. 2013), which allowed DOA to enforce the existing code for unpermitted groups of more than twenty. The Capitol Police had no reason to believe that the underlying conduct that served as the basis for the citation was not prohibited by the rules; therefore, they were justified in issuing the citation.¹⁸ In other words, the Capitol Police believed the law was clearly established supported their interpretation of the and that it administrative code and that they were acting within their authority and pursuant to the Constitution when they issued the citation.

¹⁸As each decision—by state or federal courts—was issued with respect to various aspects of the relevant administrative code, the Capitol Police reviewed these rulings and adjusted their practices accordingly. R. 45:66-68, 73-74 (Dep. 21-22, 27-28, 31-33, 51-52, 56).

As the U.S. Supreme Court recently held in *Reichle v. Howards*, 132 S. Ct. 2088, 2093 (2012) (citations omitted), the question of whether a right is "clearly established" albeit in the context of qualified immunity—is illustrative here:

To be clearly established, a right must be sufficiently clear "that every 'reasonable official would [have understood] that what he is doing violates that right." In other words, "existing precedent must have placed the statutory or constitutional question beyond debate." This "clearly established" standard protects the balance between vindication of constitutional rights and government officials' effective performance of ensuring that officials their duties bv can "reasonably . . . anticipate when their conduct may give rise to liability for damages."

The Capitol Police had a reasonable basis in truth for issuing the citation: they reasonably believed that **Detert-Moriarty's** actions violation of the were a administrative code. In determining whether the Capitol Police's conduct was substantially justified, it must be examined based upon the information available to them at the time the citations were issued. It is very simple to use hindsight and try to argue what the Capitol Police should have known with respect to how the circuit courts¹⁹ would view the administrative code after the fact. The question is, however, how the courts viewed it at the time, and the

¹⁹The decisions by Dane County circuit courts regarding the constitutionality of the relevant sections of the administrative code are currently under appeal.

determining factor is whether the Capitol Police followed the laws as they were contemporaneously pronounced by various courts and as the policy and administrative code was amended.

In addition, there were significant warnings provided to each individual, including Detert-Moriarty, before they received a citation. There was a sandwich board sign posted in the center of the Capitol Rotunda which outlined the rules to be followed, and, following the *Kissick* decision, would be changed when the group was more than 20 individuals to indicate that the event was no longer a lawful event.²⁰ After the *Kissick* decision was issued, there was at least a week of announcements of how the rules would be enforced before *any* of the citations were issued.²¹ And, as always, before any individual received a citation they were also given at least one in-person warning and an opportunity to cease their actions.²² Detert-Moriarty refused to follow any of the warnings.

Therefore, in this case, the Capitol Police reasonably exercised their discretion when issuing the citation which, in turn, led to the clerk of court's initiation of the underlying action and identifying the State as the proper party plaintiff pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 778.02. Accordingly, for purposes of

²⁰R. 45:66-67 (Dep. 24-25).

²¹R. 45:91 (Dep. 122-24).

²²R. 45:66-67 (Dep. 22-23, 28).

Wis. Stat. § 814.245, the Capitol Police were substantially justified.

B. The State was substantially justified in prosecuting this case.

The State was substantially justified in this case—given the state of the law in July 2013—when it began prosecution of Detert-Moriarty's citation. For almost three decades prior, the permit system for activities and events in the State Capitol stood uncontested. It was even ratified in *Gaylor v. Thompson*, 939 F. Supp. 1363, 1370 (W.D. Wis. 1996), where the court noted that the State made the "decision" to open the capitol building as a designated public forum, subject to restrictions.²³ More recently, even though the permit system has been the center of focus of

 $^{^{23}}$ In doing so, the *Gaylor* court specifically noted the limitations on free speech found in Wis. Admin. Code ch. Adm 2 in making its ruling. 939 F. Supp. at 1372. While exploring interests that legitimately over-rode plaintiff's contention that her free speech rights were violated, the *Gaylor* court noted that:

There is little question that the state of Wisconsin has a significant governmental interest in keeping the capitol rotunda free from visual clutter. The building is an important monument and source of historic pride for the citizens of this state. The state is and should be concerned with maintaining the capitol's appearance.

Id. at 1370. The court went on to note the specific limitations on speech set forth in Wis. Admin. Code ch. Adm 2, including the limitation that speech not interfere with the prime uses of the building. *Id.* at 1372.

several courts, it has been upheld in most part—and where there were issues, the State has amended the rules.

Ever since 1979, there has been a permit system in place for use of the Wisconsin State Capitol, as well as other buildings and facilities managed by DOA. The permit system was codified in Wis. Admin. Code ch. Adm 2, which was approved and adopted by DOA on February 6, 1998.²⁴

On April 11, 2013, Governor Scott Walker approved amendments to the old Wis. Admin. Code ch. Adm 2²⁵ which had been issued as emergency rules by DOA, effective upon the date of approval. The plain language analysis of the Emergency Rules at 2 states:

The objective of the rule is to obtain greater compliance from user groups regarding facility use. This objective will be achieved by codifying historical Department practices and more clearly detailing certain provisions of the administrative code as informed by judicial interpretations.

R. 41:37; R-Ap. 15.

In March 2011, Wisconsin State Employees Union v. State of Wisconsin, Dane County Case No. 11-CV-0990 ("WSEU v. Wisconsin"), a case involving a group of protestors who stayed inside the State Capitol after closing, was filed. The circuit court heard testimony and, upon ordering that the

²⁴R. 41:6-28.

²⁵R. 41:1 ¶ 4.

protestors had to vacate the State Capitol, advised DOA as follows:

- DOA had "inherent authority pursuant to Admin. Chapter 2" to enforce a permit system within the Capitol.²⁶
- "[U]nder Adm 2, the Secretary [of DOA] can grant permits as to time, place, and manner."²⁷
- "[T]he permitting process must allow free speech in the Rotunda, and I am not sure yet on the floor above that. Evidently, that's the first floor."²⁸ The Court felt it had to "leave a fair amount of discretion in the hands of the Department of Administration" because "[f]rankly, they have shown that they are sensitive to protesters' needs and understand the absolute right of free speech, freedom of association."²⁹

Moreover, the Stipulation and Order for Dismissal in the *WSEU v. Wisconsin* case is also instructive and shows that the Capitol Police and the State were operating in good faith compliance with the laws as they existed when the citation

²⁶R. 41:71.

 $^{^{27}}$ R.41:58.

²⁸R. 41:59.

 $^{^{29}\}mathrm{R.}$ 41:59 (emphasis added). It is noteworthy that the circuit court in *WSEU v. Wisconsin* considered this a discretionary act.

was issued to Detert-Moriarty. The Stipulation and Order provides:

(4) DOA has the authority to manage and operate the Capitol Building as managing authority under Wis. Admin. Code Adm ch. 2. Plaintiffs recognize such authority but reserve the right to challenge any such provision as written and or as applied in a separate lawsuit.

(5) The Capitol Building's ground and first floor Rotunda will be open for public access *subject to Wis. Admin. Code Adm ch. 2, and to DOA's permitting authority under that Code.*"^[30]

The Court in *WSEU v. Wisconsin* expressly inquired as to whether plaintiffs were challenging the constitutionality of Wis. Admin. Code ch. Adm 2; they were not.³¹

Until *Kissick v. Huebsch*, no plaintiffs raised or litigated the constitutional claims at issue here. In *Kissick*, on July 8, 2013, Judge William Conley issued a preliminary injunction decision upholding as constitutional the time, place, and manner restrictions of the permitting process but granting a preliminary injunction, enjoining the enforcement of the permitting requirement, in relevant part, as applied to events in the Capitol that are anticipated to attract 20 or fewer persons. 956 F. Supp. 2d at 1007. Judge Conley expressly noted that he was not "making any final determinations as to severance," and that this was only a

 $^{^{30}\}text{R.}$ 41:74 $\P\P$ 4-5 (emphasis added).

 $^{^{31}}$ R. 41:79.

preliminarily ruling in the matter because defendants had "established that some threshold is appropriate." *Id*.

In reaching its conclusions, the district court addressed and rejected several constitutional challenges to the Capitol Access Policy ("Access Policy"),³² which guides implementation of Wis. Admin. Code ch. Adm 2, governing conduct on state property.

The *Kissick* court rejected the argument that the permitting process constitutes an invalid prior restraint on 956 F. Supp. 2d at 995-96. speech. It reached this conclusion because the Access Policy "is plainly directed at mediating competing uses on state property, not imposing censorship on content or viewpoint." Id. at 995. The court also found that the Policy neither Access was unconstitutionally overbroad nor vague. Id. at 996-97. The time, place, and manner restrictions are not overly broad. Further, the Access Policy's permitting scheme is not vague because it does not reach a substantial amount of constitutionally protected conduct. Id. at 997.

Finally, the *Kissick* Court generally upheld the Access Policy's time, place, and manner restrictions. It recognized that the permit process serves important purposes: "(1) ensur[ing] the presence of adequate police resources at the Capitol and (2) manag[ing] competing demands for public space in the Capitol." *Id.* at 1000-01.

³²R. 23:52-75.

However, the Court raised questions regarding the Access Policy's requirement that groups of four or more must apply for permits for events. As such, the District Court set the minimum permit participant number at 20 pending its final decision following the trial. *Id.* at 1007. The District Court, however, held that this was merely a "preliminary number" until there is a final hearing in that case. *Id.*

This Court has inquired as to the effect of the recent decision of Smith v. Exec. Dir. of the Indiana War Mem'ls Comm'n, 742 F.3d 282 (7th Cir. 2014), on Wisconsin's administrative code, but that case is not applicable, much less dispositive, here. Unlike the inside of the Capitol Rotunda—a designated public forum—*Smith* involved an outdoor area of several blocks in which there are monuments, a public park and war memorials-clearly a traditional public forum. Id. at 284-85. Further, there was a content-based, unwritten policy in *Smith* that allowed 25 or more to gather for lunch, but required 14 or more to get a permit to have a demonstration. Finally, the commission had unbridled discretion not to offer applications to individual demonstrators, and, in fact, declined to offer one to Smith. None of those facts would apply here.

"[L]ocal governments can exercise their substantial interest in regulating competing uses of traditional public fora by imposing permitting requirements for certain uses." *Santa Monica Food Not Bombs v. City of Santa Monica*, 450 F.3d 1022, 1038 (9th Cir. 2006). Given all of these facts—facts surrounding not only the issuance of Detert-Moriarty's citation, but the State's prosecutorial decisions—the State asserts that its decisions were substantially justified.

C. The circuit court correctly set forth the appropriate "substantially justified" standard.

Plaintiff-respondent agrees that there are different standards for reasonableness under WEAJA and for non-frivolousness under Wis. Stat. § 814.025. Plaintiff-respondent has never asserted anything to the contrary.

D. Plaintiff-respondent reserves its right to challenge the reasonableness of fees sought.

Assuming, *arguendo* that fees may be awarded, plaintiff-respondent preserves its right to challenge the reasonableness of those proposed.

Detert-Moriarty seeks the recovery of \$23,597.22 in fees and costs in defending against one civil forfeiture action punishable by a maximum penalty of \$500. That amount is unreasonable on its face, particularly when compared to the amount of the potential forfeiture. Based upon the rate of \$192.63, Detert-Moriarty is asking this Court to accept that over 122 hours were expended on this citation. That is an unreasonable amount of time. In addition, the rate that defendant-appellant is seeking to receive is in excess of the allowable state rate of \$150/hour. See Wis. Stat. § 814.245(5)(a)2.

Accordingly, should this Court rule that Wis. Stat. § 814.245 applies to actions by the State of Wisconsin, that it applies to forfeiture actions prosecuted under Wis. Stat. ch. 778, and that the State of Wisconsin's actions were not substantially justified, plaintiff-respondent would ask the case to be remanded for the circuit court to hold a hearing on the reasonableness of the fees sought by Detert-Moriarty.

IV. Any challenge to the rules based on the existence of an emergency is not properly before this Court.

Detert-Moriarty did not raise a challenge to the validity of the emergency rules below. It thus cannot form the basis of any argument as to whether the State of Wisconsin's position was justified in this action.

"Generally, issues not raised or considered by the trial court will not be considered for the first time on appeal." *State v. Holland Plastics Co.*, 111 Wis. 2d 497, 504, 331 N.W.2d 320 (1983). Thus, this "lack of emergency" argument is not properly before this Court.

* * * * *

Fees under WEAJA were unavailable in this action for three separate reasons: the action was brought by the State of Wisconsin; it was a forfeiture matter brought under Wis. Stat. ch. 778, and the position of the State was substantially justified. The State asks that the decision below be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

The State of Wisconsin asks that the circuit court's decision be affirmed.